
United Nations A/C.6/54/SR.30

General Assembly
Fifty-fourth session

Official Records

Distr.: General
6 March 2000
English
Original: Spanish

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member
of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the
Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a
copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each
Committee.

00-26822 (E)
`````````

Sixth Committee

Summary record of the 30th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Friday, 12 November 1999, at 10 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. Mochochoko ......................................................................................... (Lesotho)

Contents
Agenda item 153: United Nations Programme of Assistance in the Teaching, Study,
Dissemination and Wider Appreciation of International Law

Agenda item 152: Convention on jurisdictional immunities of States and their
property (continued)

Agenda item 159:Report of the Special Committee on the Charter of the United
Nations and on the Strengthening of the Role of the Organization (continued)



2

A/C.6/54/SR.30

The meeting was called to order at 10.25 a.m.

Agenda item 153: United Nations Programme of
Assistance in the Teaching, Study, Dissemination and
Wider Appreciation of International Law (A/54/515)

1. Mr. Hanson-Hall (Ghana) said that, while the
number of participants at the Geneva International Law
Seminar and the lectures given at the Hague Academy
of International Law and recipients of the Hamilton
Shirley Amerasinghe Memorial Fellowship on the Law
of the Sea was impressive, many candidates had been
turned away for lack of funds. In addition to expressing
the appreciation of the Advisory Committee on the
Programme to the Member States, organizations,
universities, foundations and other institutions that had
contributed in many ways to the success of the
Programme of Assistance, he would therefore take the
opportunity to appeal once again for voluntary
contributions to promote its noble ideals.

2. On behalf of the Advisory Committee, he wished
to commend the Office of Legal Affairs for bringing
the United Nations Treaty Series and the United
Nations Juridical Yearbook up to date and for making
them available, along with other legal information, on
the Internet. He hoped that the United Nations Institute
for Training and Research (UNITAR) would continue
to participate actively in the fellowship programme.

3. Mr. Hakapää (Finland), speaking on behalf of
the European Union, noted that the Union had
contributed actively to the Geneva International Law
Seminar, which had been financially supported by
Austria, Denmark, Finland and Germany, and to the
annual lectures in private and public international law
given at the Hague Academy of International Law,
which had received voluntary contributions from
Germany, Ireland and the United Kingdom. Germany
and the United Kingdom had also made major
contributions to the Hamilton Shirley Amerasinghe
Memorial Fellowship on the Law of the Sea and to
other special fellowships on the national level. Among
the European institutions which had participated in
such programmes were the Rhodes Academy of Oceans
Law and Policy of Greece; the Max Planck Institute for
Foreign Public Law and International Law of
Heidelberg, Germany; the Netherlands Institute for the
Law of the Sea of the University of Utrecht,
Netherlands; and the Faculty of Law of the University
of Oxford, the Institute of Maritime Law of the

University of Southampton and the Research Centre for
International Law of the University of Cambridge,
United Kingdom. In addition, Austria had contributed
resources to the International Development Law
Institute to finance, in particular, scholarships for
students from Eastern Europe to study in the fields of
the rule of law and international trade and commercial
law. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Finland, in
addition to organizing and funding seminars and
symposia on international law, had supported the
publication of the Finnish Yearbook of International
Law and the Nordic Journal of International Law. In
early 1999, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Portugal
had organized a conference on international law in
which universities and members of international courts
had participated.

4. Student and teacher exchange also promoted an
understanding of international law. Under the Socrates
programme and, in particular, the Erasmus programme
for higher education, the European Union had created a
network of university cooperation throughout Europe,
providing financial support to universities and teachers
and above all to students, to enable them to study
abroad.

5. In addition, the States parties to the Hague
Conventions of 1899 and 1907, through their assessed
contributions, supported the functioning of the
Permanent Court of Arbitration. The seminar recently
organized by the Government of France on access of
victims to the future International Criminal Court had
served to promote and disseminate not only the Rome
Statute but also a new legal concept, the role of victims
in criminal proceedings. In May 1999, the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs of Italy had co-sponsored an
international conference at the University of Trento on
the Rome Statute.

6. The United Nations Treaty Series, the United
Nations Juridical Yearbook, the Yearbook of the
International Law Commission and other documents,
together with the United Nations web site on the
Internet, all constituted important contributions to
international law.

7. Mr. Kim Doo-young (Republic of Korea) said
that international law was an indispensable tool for the
promotion of international peace and security, but its
importance was not fully recognized, even in academic
circles. The United Nations Programme of Assistance
was a catalyst for enhancing general awareness of the



3

A/C.6/54/SR.30

link between international law and harmonious
international relations.

8. Recent achievements in the application of the
Programme of Assistance had been substantial, with
the creation of the United Nations Audiovisual Library
in International Law, the awarding of a number of new
international law fellowships and greater participation
by developing countries in regional and international
conferences on international law. There was
nonetheless a need to expand participation in the
Programme of Assistance to a wider spectrum of the
international community, especially developing
countries, perhaps through the use of information
technology.

9. The Republic of Korea fully supported the
principles and rules of international law and continued
to allocate substantial resources to its promotion.
Approximately 80 universities in the country were
currently offering undergraduate and postgraduate
courses in a wide variety of topics in the field. Four
major academic societies also promoted international
law. The Korean Association of International Law, the
most active of the societies and the one with the largest
membership, had organized nine seminars on
international law over the previous two years. It also
published twice yearly the Korean Journal of
International Law.

10. As a further example of the promotion of
international law by the Government of the Republic of
Korea, the Humanitarian Law Institute, the legal arm of
the Republic of Korea National Red Cross, regularly
gave lectures on international humanitarian law to
members of the Red Cross and since 1973 had been
organizing conferences on international humanitarian
law in cooperation with academic institutions; the
conference in 1999 would concern the four Geneva
Conventions of 1949 and the two additional protocols
of 1977.

11. Mr. Kamal (Malaysia), speaking on behalf of the
Association of South-East Asian Nations (ASEAN),
urged the States that had made voluntary contributions
to the Programme of Assistance to increase their
contributions in order to enable the growing number of
applicants to participate, especially those from
developing countries. In view of the problems that had
arisen regarding the organization of some of the
fellowship programmes, if a selected candidate could

not use the fellowship, urgent arrangements should be
made to choose a replacement.

12. ASEAN thanked the Government of the Islamic
Republic of Iran for its offer to host a refresher course
in international law and contribute to financing thereof,
and the other Governments which were to collaborate
in the effort.

13. In view of the ever increasing number of
candidates applying for the Hamilton Shirley
Amerasinghe Memorial Fellowship on the Law of the
Sea, the endowment should be increased, so that more
than one fellowship could be awarded each year.

14. Lastly, ASEAN urged the United Nations to
promote the use of the Internet as a means of
transmitting information and documents on
international law more widely, especially to developing
countries.

15. Ms. Long (Singapore) said that her delegation
aligned itself with the statement made by the
representative of Malaysia on behalf of ASEAN.
Singapore had participated in the thirty-fifth session of
the Geneva International Law Seminar, which enabled
young people in the legal field, particularly those from
developing countries and from countries not members
of the International Law Commission, to learn about
the Commission’s work. It had also participated in the
UNITAR Fellowship Programme in International
Affairs Management, which provided junior and mid-
level diplomats the opportunity to learn about
international political relations, intergovernmental
institutions, international law and other aspects of
multilateral diplomacy.

16. Being very much dependent on trade, Singapore
had participated actively in the work of the United
Nations Commission on International Trade Law
(UNCITRAL). The seminars and symposia organized
in conjunction with the Programme of Assistance were
vital in enabling developing countries to learn about
the work of UNCITRAL and to adopt and implement
its texts.

17. On the regional level, the ASEAN countries were
mindful that they must adapt their legal structures to
keep pace with global trends. In November, Singapore
had hosted a meeting of ASEAN ministers of justice, at
which it had been decided that each country should
create an authority to encourage data exchange, should
establish networks linking legal officers and law



4

A/C.6/54/SR.30

graduates of ASEAN member countries through
seminars and exchange visits, and should publish a
guide to the governmental and legal structures of
member countries, to be distributed to government
officials and made available to the public, especially
lawyers.

18. Mr. Tankoano (Niger) said that, under the United
Nations Programme of Assistance, many beneficiaries
from developing countries had received fellowships or
assistance enabling them to participate in international
seminars and conferences at which important
international conventions and treaties had been
adopted.

19. In recent years, the Niger had taken various steps
to contribute to implementation of the Programme of
Assistance. In 1997, fundamental concepts of
international law, such as human rights, the rights of
the child and humanitarian law, had become part of the
official curriculum of civic education.

20. Financial constraints prevented the Niger, like
many other developing countries, from disseminating
instruction in international law as widely as it would
wish at the primary school level and on a national
scale. For purposes of primary education, it would be
helpful if the United Nations were to publish some
small basic texts. For purposes of dissemination on a
national scale, a United Nations fund might be
established to finance the publication of basic texts in
international law.

21. Lastly, the Niger would like the Secretary-
General to update the collection of journals in the
Secretariat’s law library, which was essential for the
work of legal advisers at the permanent missions.

22. Mr. Droushiotis (Cyprus) said that his delegation
aligned itself with the statement made by the
representative of Finland on behalf of the European
Union, particularly with regard to the importance of the
United Nations Programme of Assistance; since its
creation the Programme had rendered valuable
assistance to countries in all regions of the world and
had demonstrated great vitality.

23. Since the United Nations Decade of International
Law was drawing to a close, the Programme of
Assistance would be left to carry on the work of
promoting international law and fulfilling the purposes
set forth in General Assembly resolution 2099 (XX) on
its own. His delegation therefore supported the

recommendations of the Secretary-General with regard
to the execution of the Programme of Assistance in the
biennium 2000-2001 (A/54/515). In view of the need to
strengthen and expand the Programme, his delegation
urged States to make voluntary financial contributions
to the Programme; Cyprus, too, within its means would
make annual contributions to the various components
of the Programme. International law was particularly
important to small vulnerable States, which often found
it their only recourse for resolving their problems.

24. Mr. Fruchtbaum (Solomon Islands) said that the
report of the Secretary-General (A/54/515) clearly
showed that, with a very limited budget, a significant
amount had been and continued to be accomplished
through fellowship programmes and teaching support.

25. However, his delegation had the same criticism to
make of the Programme of Assistance as it had made of
the United Nations Decade of International Law. The
activities of the Programme and of the Decade had
been directed chiefly at legal scholars rather than
children, adults not attending university and
journalists. Although the report noted that significant
work was being done via the Internet, those efforts
were not designed to reach the people who had very
little understanding of the importance and basic
elements of international law. The Niger was to be
commended for its efforts to disseminate the concepts
of international law through primary education and
civic studies; that was the way international law should
be disseminated. During the United Nations Decade of
International Law, a splendid opportunity had been lost
to bring a knowledge of international law to non-
specialists. It was to be hoped that with appropriate
financing the Programme of Assistance could place
more emphasis on true dissemination and appreciation
of international law.

Agenda item 152: Convention on jurisdictional
immunities of States and their property (continued)
(A/54/10 and A/54/266; A/C.6/54/L.12)

26. Mr. Hafner (Austria), Chairman of the Working
Group charged with considering outstanding
substantive issues related to the draft articles on
jurisdictional immunities of States and their property,
reported that the Working Group had met on 8 and 9
November 1999 and had had before it the draft articles
submitted by the International Law Commission to the
General Assembly in 1991, the comments submitted by
Governments since 1991 (A/47/326 and Add.1-5,



5

A/C.6/54/SR.30

A/48/313, A/48/464, A/52/294, A/53/274 and Add.1
and A/54/266; A/C.6/48/3), document A/C.6/49/L.2
containing the conclusions of the Chairman of the
informal consultations held in 1994 in the Sixth
Committee, chapter VII of the report of the
International Law Commission (A/54/10) and the
report of its Working Group on Jurisdictional
Immunities of States and Their Property annexed
thereto.

27. The discussions of the Working Group had
revolved around four points, namely, the possible form
of the outcome of the work on the topic; the five
outstanding substantive issues identified in the report
of the Working Group of the International Law
Commission; the appendix to the report of the
Commission’s Working Group concerning the existence
or non-existence of immunity in the case of violation
by a State of jus cogens norms; and the future course of
action to be taken with regard to the topic.

28. With regard to the possible form of the outcome
of the work on the topic, a number of delegations had
been of the opinion that it should take the form of a
convention, which would make it possible to limit the
proliferation of different national laws on the topic and
would introduce the necessary elements of uniformity,
legal certainty, consistency and clarity. Other
delegations had felt that, although a convention would
be the ideal goal, it would be more realistic to aim
towards a model law, given the divergent views of
States and the controversial nature of some of the
issues still to be resolved. A model law could serve as
a compromise between those who sought a convention
and those who did not think that there was a need for
regulation in that area. Moreover, a model law would
offer the advantage of being a flexible instrument that
could provide guidance to national legislatures and
judicial organs and might facilitate the resolution of the
issues still pending. The view had also been expressed
that a model law should not necessarily be perceived as
a secondary means of codification, as it could serve as
a reflection of customary law on the matter. Some
delegations had been willing to accept a model law
only as an interim measure until a convention could be
adopted. Others had opposed a model law because they
had felt that it did not carry sufficient legal weight; its
legal nature was uncertain and it might give rise to
inconsistencies in its application by States. The
question had been raised as to how long it would take
to transform the draft articles prepared by the

Commission into a model law and whether that task
should be performed by the Commission itself or by
the Working Group of the Sixth Committee.

29. The first of the five outstanding issues concerned
the concept of a State for purposes of immunity.
General support had been expressed for the suggestion
of the International Law Commission to merge
subparagraphs (b) (ii) and (b) (iii) in paragraph 1 of
draft article 2, dealing with constituent units of a
federal State and political subdivisions of the State and
to replace the words “sovereign authority” by
“governmental authority”. It had been suggested that
the text of the new subparagraph (b) (ii) should read
“political subdivisions of the State, including, in
particular, constituent units of a federal State”. It had
also been suggested that the adjective “federal” in the
expression “constituent units of a federal State” should
be eliminated in order not to exclude entities such as
confederation and unions. It had also been proposed
that the word “entitled” should be replaced by the word
“authorized” or “empowered” in subparagraph (ii) and
new subparagraph (iii) (former iv) in order to better
indicate that, originally, only the State and its property
enjoyed immunity. With regard to the bracketed phrase
“provided that it was established that such entities were
acting in that capacity” (A/54/10, annex, para. 27),
some delegations had been in favour of deleting it, as it
might unduly authorize foreign courts to pass
judgement on aspects of the public law of other States.
It had also been said that the phrase would be better
placed in the commentary. Other delegations had been
in favour of retaining the phrase as a condition for
immunity. Some had felt that the phrase should be
included in a new subparagraph (iii) (former iv)
relating to “agencies or instrumentalities of the State”.
However, it had been noted that the verb tense used in
the phrase might lead to confusion as to its
interpretation and that the wordings of subparagraphs
(ii) and (iii) should be consistent.

30. With regard to the second outstanding issue,
criteria for determining the commercial character of a
contract or a transaction, some delegations had
supported the suggestion that paragraph 2 of draft
article 2 should be deleted, following the example set
by the national laws of many countries on jurisdictional
immunities which did not lay down any criteria for
distinguishing between commercial and non-
commercial transactions, leaving it to the courts to
decide. Several delegations that would, in principle, be



6

A/C.6/54/SR.30

in favour of “nature” as a sole criterion of distinction
or of “nature” supplemented by the purpose test, had
felt that the Commission’s suggestion was a good way
out of the difficulties posed by the issue, particularly
since, in practice, the distinction between the nature
and the purpose tests might be less significant than was
at first thought.

31. Some other delegations had thought that to
eliminate the criteria provided in paragraph 2 was to
eliminate the very core of the draft articles. If the
purpose of the transaction was not profit as such but
only the advancement of the public interest, then the
transaction was not commercial even if its nature might
lend itself to another interpretation. To delete
paragraph 2 did not solve the problem and only
deferred the decision as to whether a specific
transaction was commercial or not and consequently
whether the State enjoyed or did not enjoy immunity.

32. Some delegations had been in favour of
alternative (e) (paragraph 59 of the report of the
Commission’s Working Group), which laid primary
emphasis on the nature test supplemented by the
purpose test, with some restrictions on the extent of
“purpose” or with some enumeration of “purpose”.
Other delegations had found alternative (g) in
paragraph 59 more acceptable. Some delegations had
supported the possible compromise suggested by the
Chairman of the 1994 informal consultations, namely,
to give States the option of indicating the importance
assigned to the purpose criterion under their national
law or practice by means of a general declaration or a
specific notification to the other party in relation to a
particular contract or transaction (A/C.6/49/L.2,
para. 6).

33. With regard to the third outstanding issue, the
concept of a State enterprise or other entity in relation
to commercial transactions, some delegations had
supported in principle the suggestion made by the
Commission to add to current paragraph 3 of draft
article 10 the clarification contained in paragraph 80 of
the report of the Commission’s Working Group. Some
of those delegations, however, had thought that further
elements of clarification should be added, namely, that
the authorization by the State to the State enterprise or
other entity to act as its agent and the guarantee by the
State of the liability of the State enterprise or other
entity should be very specific and should be reflected
in a legally valid document, and that, beyond the strict
limits of the authorization or scope of the guarantee,

the liability should fall on the State enterprise or other
entity and not on the State. Other delegations had
supported the wording suggested in paragraph 80,
provided that it would entirely replace current
paragraph 3 of draft article 10. Some others had been
in favour of deleting paragraph 3 and returning to the
wording adopted on first reading. They had felt that
paragraph 3 went beyond the normal scope of the other
paragraphs of draft article 10. Furthermore, even with
the clarification proposed by the Commission, some
necessary exceptions had been omitted from paragraph
3, relating to possible undercapitalization of State
enterprises and the possibility of piercing the corporate
veil, since maintenance of secrecy was justified only in
wartime, when the security of a State was at stake, but
not in peacetime.

34. With regard to the fourth outstanding issue,
relating to contracts of employment, a number of
delegations had supported the amendment suggested in
paragraph 104 of the report of the Commission’s
Working Group that the words “closely related to”
should be deleted from paragraph 2 (a) of draft article
11 so as to limit the provision to “persons performing
functions in the exercise of governmental authority”;
that would bring clarity and precision to the provision.
Other delegations had been in favour of retaining the
existing wording, since it better reflected the standards
set in their own national legislation. Moreover, it
would maintain the necessary flexibility by shielding
from the jurisdiction of the forum State activities
which, although not in the exercise of governmental
authority, were closely connected thereto. It would also
more adequately protect the missions from undue
intrusion into their internal functioning.

35. A number of delegations had supported the
suggestion (paragraph 105 of the report of the
Commission’s Working Group) of adding a non-
exhaustive list of the categories of employees to which
the general rule in paragraph 1 of draft article 11 would
not apply, to serve as guidance to national courts.
Others had felt that such a list was unnecessary and
that the issue should be left for national courts to
decide. Some delegations had been of the view that if
the list was to be retained, more emphasis should be
placed on the fact that it was non-exhaustive and that
other categories of personnel, for example, members of
a peacekeeping or peacemaking force, might also be
included. Other delegations had thought it preferable to



7

A/C.6/54/SR.30

include the list in the commentary to the draft articles
rather than in the text of the provision.

36. There had been widespread support for the
suggestion (paragraph 106 of the report of the
Commission’s Working Group) that paragraph 2 (c) of
draft article 11 should be deleted because it could not
be reconciled with the principle of non-discrimination
based on nationality. A number of delegations had
expressed the view that paragraph 2 (d) of draft article
11 might also present problems with regard to the
principle of non-discrimination based on nationality,
particularly in relation to employees residing
permanently in the forum State. There had been general
agreement, however, that subparagraph (d) should be
retained but that language should be added to meet the
concerns of delegations regarding employees residing
permanently in the forum State.

37. With regard to the fifth outstanding issue, relating
to measures of constraint against State property, several
delegations had supported the distinction (paragraph
126 of the report of the Commission’s Working Group)
between pre-judgement and post-judgement measures
of constraint. The distinction, which could be useful in
overcoming the difficulties inherent in the issue, was
based on the notion that State immunity should be
broader with respect to “pre-judgement measures of
constraint” than to measures taken to execute a
judgement. Some delegations had expressed doubts
that the distinction would be significant in practice.
Others had been opposed to the inclusion of the
concept of “pre-judgement measures of constraint”
because they viewed it as a possible source of abuses
and of unwarranted attachments against the property of
the State.

38. With regard to post-judgement measures, several
delegations had expressed a preference for alternative I
(in paragraph 129 of the report of the Commission’s
Working Group) as the most effective way of executing
the judgement and at the same time balancing the
interests of the defendant State to have a reasonable
time to comply with the judgement and the interests of
the claimant State to attain prompt compliance with the
judgement in its favour. Furthermore, it was flexible
enough to grant the defendant State the freedom to
determine property for execution. In that regard it had
been suggested that the language of subparagraph (i)
should be clarified so as to enhance the idea that during
the grace period the State could either comply with the

judgement or indicate property earmarked for
execution of the judgement.

39. Other delegations had thought that alternative II
was more flexible than alternative I, taking into
account that the paragraph dealt with measures of
execution against a State. In their view, alternative II
constituted a more realistic approach that would enable
States upholding the concept of absolute immunity to
proceed to a gradual shift in their position. Other
delegations had had reservations about alternative II,
because, in their view, the initiation of dispute
settlement procedures between States was out of place
in a process which should ensure prompt execution of a
judgement. The dispute settlement procedure might
reopen substantive issues involved in the claim and
unduly delay compliance with a judgement favourable
to a State. In practice, it might mean that only States
with the resources to engage in lengthy and costly
dispute settlement procedures would benefit. During
the debate it had been clarified that subparagraph (ii) of
alternative II limited the dispute settlement procedure
to execution of the judgement and excluded the merits
of the case.

40. Some delegations had found alternative III the
most appropriate. Since the issues involved in the
execution of a judgement against a State were delicate
and complex, in particular the matters of public policy
that might have influenced the conduct of a State
against which a judgement was handed down, it would
be better to leave the matter of execution of the
judgement to State practice. Other delegations had
found that alternative unacceptable and had felt that
provisions on the execution of judgements must be an
integral part of the draft articles. Otherwise, the
recognition of exceptions to State immunity in the draft
articles, and the judgements resulting therefrom would
constitute a futile exercise. Some delegations had
expressed a preference for the original wording of draft
article 18.

41. The Working Group had decided that the question
of the existence or non-existence of immunity in the
case of violation by a State of jus cogens norms of
international law, although an interesting issue, did not
relate to the draft articles and was not ripe for
codification. In any case, it would be up to the Sixth
Committee and not to its Working Group to decide
whether any action should be taken. The view had been
expressed that the issue should be considered by the



8

A/C.6/54/SR.30

Third Committee and not by the Sixth Committee,
particularly with regard to non-impunity issues.

42. In terms of the future course of action to be taken
with regard to the topic, the Working Group had
generally agreed that the International Law
Commission had amply fulfilled its mandate to prepare
the draft articles and that the responsibility now lay
with the General Assembly to bring to fruition the
Commission’s work. There was therefore no need for
the topic to be referred back to the Commission unless
a very specific mandate were elaborated. Further
efforts on the topic should continue in the Sixth
Committee and, more specifically, in the framework of
its Working Group with the aim of resolving the
outstanding issues and others that might arise in
relation to the draft articles. The view had been
expressed that, in order to facilitate resolution of the
outstanding issues, it was advisable to take a decision
on the form to be given to the outcome of the work on
the topic. It had also been said, however, that the
decision would depend primarily on the results of the
debate on the substantive issues and consequently
could only be taken at a later stage. In the view of
some delegations, the Working Group should not be
reconvened until the fifty-sixth session of the General
Assembly, in order to allow Governments more time to
reflect on the issues involved. Many delegations,
however, had been of the view that, in order to
maintain the momentum, the Working Group should
resume its work at the fifty-fifth session of the General
Assembly and that it should be given more time to
carry out its work, five full working days according to
some delegations.

43. As Chairman of the Working Group, he would
suggest on the basis of the debates that it might be
worthwhile, with regard to the concept of a State for
purposes of immunity, to follow the Commission’s
suggestion to merge “political subdivisions of the
State” and “constituent units of a federal State” into
one paragraph. With regard to the bracketed text
suggested by the Commission, it might be useful to
restrict immunity to cases where, at the time of the
dispute, it had been clearly established that the act had
been performed in the exercise of governmental
authority. It would also be necessary to ensure
consistency in the wording used in subparagraphs (ii)
and (iii) of paragraph 1 (b) of draft article 2.

44. At the moment, it appeared extremely difficult to
reach agreement regarding the criteria for determining

the commercial character of a contract or transaction.
To foster agreement, it would be necessary to delete
reference to specific criteria, as had been suggested by
the Commission in 1999.

45. With regard to the concept of a State enterprise or
other entity in relation to commercial transactions, in
order to clarify the issue addressed in paragraph 3 of
draft article 10, it might be useful to separate the issue
of the legal capacity of the State enterprise from
questions which might arise, inter alia, in connection
with undercapitalization or misrepresentation of the
entity’s financial position. There was a further set of
issues that concerned the relationship between the State
and the relevant State enterprise. All those issues and
others that might arise should be dealt with separately
in order to facilitate agreement on the topic.

46. With regard to contracts of employment,
consideration might be given to dropping the words
“closely related to” in paragraph 2 (a) of draft article
11. In the list of different conventions, a broadening of
the categories appeared to be necessary. Moreover, in
order to reflect the views of the delegations that wished
to retain the words “closely related to”, it might be
useful to reconsider those categories. In any case, the
non-exhaustive character of the list should be
emphasized. The tendency of the debate had been in
favour of deleting paragraph 2 (c) of draft article 11.
On the other hand, it had not been considered desirable
to apply the exemption contained in paragraph 2 (d) of
draft article 11 to nationals of the employer State
having their permanent residence in the forum State.

47. In view of the divergent practice of national
courts and legislation on measures of constraint against
State property, the Commission had submitted several
alternatives, including a distinction between pre-
judgement and post-judgement measures of constraint.
All the alternatives had met with both support and
opposition, and no clear trend had emerged.
Nonetheless, the exchange of views in the Working
Group had been useful, because it had revealed the
wide spectrum of positions that would need to be taken
into account in the further deliberations on the matter.

48. With regard to the appendix to the report of the
Commission’s Working Group, in the light of the
debate, it did not seem advisable to include the matter
among the issues for further consideration. With
respect to the future course of action to be taken, the
discussions in the Working Group had shown that



9

A/C.6/54/SR.30

progress was feasible on the preparation of an
instrument on the topic of jurisdictional immunities of
States and their property.

Agenda item 159: Report of the Special Committee
on the Charter of the United Nations and on the
Strengthening of the Role of the Organization
(continued) (A/C.6/54/L.3/Rev.1)

49. Mr. Hanson-Hall (Ghana), introducing draft
resolution A/C.6/54/L.3/Rev.1 entitled “Implementation of
the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations
related to assistance to third States affected by the
application of sanctions”, said that the resolution
represented a consensus and he hoped the Committee
would adopt it without a vote.

50. Draft resolution A/C.6/54/L.3/Rev.1 was adopted.

51. Mr. Panevkin (Russian Federation) said that, at
the next session of the General Assembly, the Sixth
Committee should consider the possibility of
establishing a working group on assistance to third
States affected by the application of sanctions.

52. The Chairman announced that the Committee
had concluded its consideration of agenda item 159.

The meeting rose at 11.55 a.m.


